
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Public Services Reform 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 28 July 2020 at 6.30 pm 
This meeting is being held remotely 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Rowan Ree (Chair) 
Councillor Christabel Cooper 
Councillor Guy Vincent 
Councillor Zarar Qayyum 
 

Councillor Dominic Stanton 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Head of Governance 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel: 07776 672877 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
This meeting is being held remotely. If you would like to take part in the meeting 
please contact: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
You can watch the meeting live on YouTube: youtu.be/P6zXe05H0Q8  
 

Date Issued: 
Updated: 

20 July 2020 
27 July 2020 

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk
https://youtu.be/P6zXe05H0Q8


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Public Services Reform Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

Agenda 
 

28 July 2020 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 A roll call will be carried out to confirm attendance and members will 
have the opportunity to declare any interests. 
 
For more information on declarations please see the next page. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES  4 – 10 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 This meeting is being held remotely via Microsoft Teams. If you would 
like to make a comment or ask a question about any of the items on the 
agenda, either via Teams or in writing, please contact: 
david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
You can also watch the meeting live on YouTube: 
youtu.be/P6zXe05H0Q8  
 

 

5.   CO-PRODUCTION UPDATE  11 – 20 

 This report sets out the progress being made regarding the 
implementation of Co-Production across the Council following the 
recommendations from the Disabled People’s Commission report. 
 

 

6.   RESIDENT-LED COMMISSIONS  21 – 26 

 H&F Council is committed to ‘doing things with residents, not to them’. 
In delivering on this commitment the Council has established resident-
led commissions to inform policy development and service change. 
There have been a total of 17 resident-led commissions launched since 
2014, and this report summarises the purpose, process and 
achievements of those commissions to date. 
 

 

7.   COVID-19 RESPONSE AND RECOVERY  27 - 47 

 This report summarises the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. It sets out the interim governance arrangements established 
to enable the Council to take quick and decisive action in effectively 
managing the impacts of the coronavirus as they arise and our actions 
for recovery as lockdown is lifted. 
 

 

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk
https://youtu.be/P6zXe05H0Q8


 

8.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting is scheduled for the 2nd of September 2020. 
 

 

 
 

More information on declarations of interest 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it is 
entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant interest which they 
consider should be declared in the public interest, they should declare the existence and, 
unless it is a sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and speak, any 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote 
taken. 
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, then the 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from the meeting whilst the 
matter is under consideration. Councillors who have declared other significant interests 
should also withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation in the 
matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a 
conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation to that effect 
has been obtained from the Standards Committee. 
 
 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Public Services Reform 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Wednesday 29 January 2020 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Rowan Ree (Chair), Christabel Cooper, 
Zarar Qayyum and Dominic Stanton 
 
Other Councillors 
Councillor Adam Connell, Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform 
 
Officers 
Lisa Redfern (Strategic Director of Public Services Reform) 
Martin Calleja (Assistant Director of Efficiency and Zero-Based Budgeting) 
Dawn Aunger (Assistant Director of People and Talent) 
Matthew Sales (Assistant Director of Programmes and Assurance) 
Andrew Lord (Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring) 
Andre Mark (Interim Finance Business Partner) 
David Abbott (Scrutiny Manager) 
 
 

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
Updates and Actions 
Dawn Aunger (Assistant Director of People and Talent) noted that there had been 
some confusion at previous meetings over the proportion of staff leaving in their first 
year of employment. She informed the Committee that for 2019/20 there were 76 
members of staff who left in their first year which equated to 18.8 percent of total 
leavers. 
 
Members requested that the following be circulated to the Committee: 

 An analysis of why staff had left. 

 The plan to reduce agency spend (discussed at previous meetings). 
 

ACTIONS: Dawn Aunger 
 
It was noted that an update on agency and overall workforce spend would be 
presented at the March meeting. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

It was also noted that the most recent Brexit preparedness update (10) had been 
circulated to the Committee. 
 
RESOLVED 
The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed as an accurate record. 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Guy Vincent. 
 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

4. 2020 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  
 
Andrew Lord (Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring) gave a corporate overview 
of the budget, highlighting the following points for context: 

 Savings will have exceeded investment (growth) by £125m from 2009/10 to 
2020/21. 

 General grant funding reduced by £68m from 2010/11 to 2020/21. A 54% real 
terms cut. 

 Government modelling for spending power assumes a 2% Council tax 
increase and 2% adult social care precept levy. For H&F a 2% increase will 
raise £4.8m over 4 years and £1.2m in the first year. 

 The 2019/20 to 2020/21 local government finance settlement included a 
general grant increase of 3.6m but future years still presented significant 
financial challenges. 

 
The Chair opened up to questions on the corporate financial position. 
 
Councillor Christabel Cooper, noting the comment from auditors Grant Thornton 
about the Council’s relatively low levels of reserves, asked if the Council was 
confident it could manage those levels going forward. Andrew Lord said officers were 
mindful of the auditors’ comments and the budget included an addition to reserves to 
address the issue. Officers added that the current level of reserves was sufficient for 
the Council's plans but they were being mindful of the levels. 
 
Councillor Cooper asked if officers expected similar comments on the level of 
reserves from the auditor in future. Andrew Lord said he hoped the Council’s action 
plan for reserves would address the issue – and noted that similar comments had 
been made at many other local authorities given the challenging financial climate. 
 
Councillor Cooper noted there were many unknowns about the Council’s revenue in 
the future (e.g. Central Government grant could be diverted to other areas of the UK) 
and asked if the organisation would withstand a ‘perfect storm’ of financial 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

challenges. Andrew Lord said the Council had built in prudent assumptions to the 
budget and was trying to maintain reserves to help protect against future unknowns. 
 
Councillor Adam Connell (Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform) noted that 
the Council was just below the national average in terms of reserves. A new policy 
had been put in place to top up reserves using new capital receipts. 
 
Councillor Cooper asked what actions could the Council take in the short term if it 
was facing a ‘perfect storm’. Andrew Lord said the near-term financial position was 
somewhat uncertain as the four year local government settlement didn't happen due 
to the general election. He explained that any significant financial change introduced 
by the government would be smoothed to give councils time to prepare, though it 
would be difficult to manage given that demand for services was increasing. 
 
Councillor Zarar Qayyum asked what was meant by ‘one-off use of resources – 
£5.3m’ in table 2 of the report. Andrew Lord explained that there was a one-off 
surplus from council tax income. 
 
Councillor Dominic Stanton, also referring to table 2, noted that the cumulative 
budget gap (£9m in 21/22, £19.9m in 22/23, and £31.5m in 23/24) did not look very 
optimistic. Andrew Lord said that each year the Council as had to find savings of 
around £10-15m. It had been a real challenge but it was expected at this point. 
Councillor Stanton said there must come a point where all of the efficiencies have 
already been made. Added to the low reserves, was the Council getting towards a 
tipping point? Officers replied that the ‘low hanging fruit’ in terms of efficiency 
savings went 8 or 9 years ago. 
 
Councillor Adam Connell noted that the cumulative figures included assumptions 
such as further freezes in council tax that could change. 
 
Councillor Qayyum asked if zero-based budgeting had been taken into account. 
Martin Calleja (Assistant Director of Efficiency and Zero-Based Budgeting) said the 
budget included £9m of savings from the zero-based budgeting programme and 
there was a pipeline of future savings being worked on for future years. 
 
Lisa Redfern (Strategic Director of Public Services Reform) gave a presentation on 
the Public Services Reform budget, highlighting the following points: 

 The department had downsized and reduced the overspend. The department 
was now at 80 staff with a staffing budget of £5m and was proposing savings 
of £0.255m. 

 The only area of some concern was Business Intelligence – it needed a 
sustainable operating and resourcing model. 

 People and Talent had reduced its staff numbers and overspend – and had 
seen significant improvements in the past six months. 

 
Lisa Redfern then talked about the department’s vision and objectives – promoting a 
participatory culture, finding radical solutions and new ways of working, using 
evidence to inform change, and bringing progressive reform to meet the needs of 
residents. 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Officers from the department noted a number of key initiatives that they had 
supported including: 

 Systemic reform of the High Needs Block in Children’s Services to reduce 
high levels of overspend. 

 The introduction of ‘The H&F Way’ a programme to drive cultural change, 
improve staff wellbeing, and increase performance. 

 A very positive Ofsted inspection of Children's Services. Information and 
analysis from Business Intelligence had informed good practice. 

 
The Chair asked for an example of how data was informing practice in Children’s 
Services. Matthew Sales (Assistant Director of Programmes and Assurance) noted 
that Business Intelligence had produced monthly performance reports that included 
key indicators in social care checking against statutory data. They were also 
generating management level information that allowed teams to drill-down into their 
data. 
 
The Chair questioned why this wasn’t being done previously. Matthew Sales 
explained that Business Intelligence was a new sovereign service and the new 
approached they were taking (using a ‘data warehouse’) gave officers greater insight 
into their services. Lisa Redfern also noted that they had also developed a state-of-
the-art business intelligence tool for Adult Social Care that had been vital to service 
improvement work. 
 
Matthew Sales added that the Business Intelligence team were responsible for 34 
statutory data returns across a wide range of Council areas. They were also working 
on a number of in-year savings products like council tax single person discount fraud 
system which had generated £133k for the organisation. 
 
Councillor Dominic Stanton asked for more information on how the council tax fraud 
system worked. Matthew Sales said using the ‘data warehouse’ model meant data 
from lots of different sources could be easily cross checked. 
 
Andre Mark (Interim Finance Business Partner) gave an overview of the Public 
Services Reform budget and noted the following points: 

 The department had a budget of just under £5m, split between staffing and 
the commissioning of services (e.g. printing rent letters, commissioning 
learning and development). 

 The department had made savings of around £250k on top of addressing in-
year pressures. The overspend had been £880k in the last revenue monitor. 

 In 2021 the department should achieve a balanced budget. 
 
Councillor Dominic Stanton asked where the income of £1.75m came from. 
Andre Mark said that was from re-charges to other departments. 
 
The Chair, noting the savings of £250k – 5 percent of a £5m budget, asked if the 
department was stopping doing certain things or doing the same things but cheaper. 
Andre Mark said it was a combination – when developing the new service plan, 
officers had reflected on what the department should be doing and what it shouldn’t 
– but areas of higher spend like People and Talent and the Programme Management 
Office recognised there were savings that could be made. 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
Martin Calleja said that a number of inherent issues where the core budget hadn’t 
reflected the spend had been resolved. There were historical gaps in areas like 
Communication, Co-production etc. He added that the department had also started 
planning for savings over two years. People and Talent had put forward savings of 
£1.7m over the next two years. 
 
The Chair asked if Research and Innovation was continuing. Officers noted that area 
was principally Business Intelligence. Lisa Redfern added that the department had 
reduced the number of Assistant Director posts by three. 
 
The Chair asked if the department was confident it could deliver the same level of 
service with fewer senior / experienced people. Dawn Aunger (Assistant Director of 
People and Talent) said People and Talent was reducing headcount from 55 to 30 
and therefore had to change their ways of working. The team had inherited a lot of 
transactional staff, despite already outsourcing many of those functions. The function 
would be placing more of a focus on self-service with a core specialist team in the 
centre. They were doing things more strategically – workforce planning, driving 
productivity, the people plan etc. 
 
Martin Calleja added that the team was also moving over two years to a unit cost on 
par with the average HR function in inner London. Officers were using the review 
experience as a benchmark for other back-office services. 
 
Councillor Christabel Cooper asked if transactional services for managers would still 
be in place – e.g. support when going through a disciplinary, employee relations, 
recruitment processes etc. Dawn Aunger said for the core HR fundamentals she 
expected the business to deliver themselves with the self-service tools on offer. The 
People and Talent team was creating self-service toolkits and putting clear guidance 
on the intranet – and there would be some transitional support. 
 
Councillor Cooper asked how officers were monitoring this to ensure the Council 
didn’t end up with greater costs through staff turnover, tribunals etc. 
Dawn Aunger said nothing came without risk but believed it was the right thing to do. 
She added that all of these changes were being done in consultation with senior 
managers. 
 
Councillor Zarar Qayyum asked if there were organisational charts to see who 
reported to who. Officers said there were and there was a ‘who’s who’ guide 
available on the Intranet. 
 
 

5. ZERO-BASED BUDGETING AND EFFICIENCY UPDATE REPORT  
 
Martin Calleja (Assistant Director of Efficiency and Zero-Based Budgeting) presented 
the report that gave an overview of the Zero-Based Budgeting Programme, 
established in April 2019. The business case for the programme was based on the 
projected scale of further savings required over the next four-year medium term 
(£50m between 2020-24) and the need to improve the capability and capacity of the 
Council to achieve this. 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
Martin Calleja explained that achieving savings was not just a technical exercise but 
it was also about getting people to sign up and engage with change. A core principle 
of the programme was to work with teams collaboratively, not an imposed top-down 
review process. £5.19m of detailed viable plans have signed off by SLT - over the 
coming 3 years. This represented a £10 return for every £1 spent on the programme. 
 
Half of the Council’s services have used the zero-based budgeting process so far 
and the team will continue to promote and encourage services to use it going 
forward. Officers were also working with heads of finance and using them to promote 
the programme to their management teams. The programme was still not fully 
established but has made significant headway and on balance people feel positive 
about it. 
 
The Chair asked about the timeline for the £8.6m of pipeline savings. Martin Calleja 
said the pipeline represented modelled opportunity that required more detailed 
planning work and approvals from senior decision makers. For example – one of the 
proposals was to reduce management costs but the organisation had not set out 
how to do that yet. The programme would be developing a corporate strategy, 
priorities, and pipeline. Then there would be a managed closure of the programme 
by the end of the financial year next year. At that point all services will have been 
reviewed and work will move to delivery of the ‘big ticket’ savings. 
 
The Chair, noting the £10 return to £1 spent on the programme, asked if there was a 
limit to these marginal benefits – should the Council be spending more to realise 
even greater savings? Martin Calleja said the Council had scaled the programme 
around balancing the budget. He felt it was the right approach to have a small, 
focused team that worked with departments. Previous approaches used larger 
central teams of consultants and agency workers that became disconnected from 
services. 
 
The Chair asked if the managed closure at the end of two years risked losing 
experience. Martin Calleja said the programme needed to ensure the Council had 
the capability to carry on with its work. It was felt that the best home for reviews 
going forward is in the Business Intelligence team. 
 
The Chair, referring to 3.8 of the report, asked if the Council had considered selling 
this service to other councils. Officers noted that councils don't trade well as sector 
but there were potential opportunities for trading certain functions. 
 
Councillor Zarar Qayyum asked what period the 10:1 return on investment was 
calculated over. Martin Calleja said it was modelled over the medium term (4 years) 
but was likely to be delivered in one or two years. 
 
Councillor Qayyum asked what the biggest challenges were for the programme. 
Martin Calleja felt the cultural challenge was the most significant. The Council had 
already delivered a lot of savings but it could still be threatening for departments. 
There had been some challenging discussions with senior managers, and some 
services were nervous to commit to savings figures, but everyone recognised the 
scale and seriousness of the financial challenge. 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
Councillor Qayyum asked if the Council was looking at revenue generation as well 
as savings. Martin Calleja said new commercial opportunities were being considered 
– the team was working with finance on all income and debt lines to look at the 
holistic picture. 
 
Councillor Christabel Cooper wanted to ensure there wasn’t under-investment in the 
Business Intelligence team, given the need for more and more analytics going 
forward. She noted that their work to support other areas of the Council was properly 
attributed – for example, the single person discount fraud income would show on 
another department’s balance sheet. Lisa Redfern agreed and said that getting the 
right model and corporate buy-in for the Business Intelligence team was crucial and 
officers were focussed on that now. 
 
The Chair asked for more information about the zero-based budgeting contract 
review panel. Martin Calleja said the team wanted to test how lead officers were 
managing contract costs. They looked at seven contracts, including CCTV, printing, 
and grounds maintenance. Each service was challenged to find opportunities to cut 
costs. The team found that services had a really good grip on the contracts and good 
ideas to reduce their costs - but there was limited drive to implement in the short 
term. Plans tended to revolve around major recommissions. Some services felt they 
needed sponsorship or some invest to save money. There were reports available on 
each of the seven contracts. 
 
 

6. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The next meeting was scheduled for 23 March 2020. 
 
 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.32 pm 

 
 
Chair   

 
 
Contact officer: David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776 672877 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 10



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Report to:   Public Services Reform Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:  07/07/2020 
 
Subject: Co-production update report 
 
Report of: Kevin Caulfield/Tara Flood, Strategic Leads for Co-Production 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report sets out the progress being made regarding the implementation of Co-
Production across the Council following the recommendations from the Disabled 
People’s Commission report.  The report advises of work that has taken place since 
the start of the COVID pandemic.    
 
The report also highlights some of the barriers to progressing co-production and 
areas of work in development, including the plan to explore income generation from 
the Council’s commitment to co-production.  
 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Committee  
 

1. Notes the progress made in the delivery of the co-production work following 
the Disabled People’s Commission’s report and its intentions to implement a 
delivery plan to realise the 8 report recommendations.  

 
2. Notes the Independent Living Vision statement, at Appendix 1, which has 

been approved by the Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care, the 
Strategic Director for Social Care and the Strategic Leadership Team.   

 
 
Wards Affected: ALL 

 
 

 
H&F Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 

Priorities  

Building shared prosperity Co-production fosters a shared vision for H&F that is 
co-created and owned by our residents.  
 

Creating a compassionate council Co-production enables the Council to be 
compassionate by valuing the voices of all residents, 
but particularly those residents who experience 
barriers to community inclusion. 

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 

Co-production with residents is the mechanism to 
deliver this priority. Co-production is about real 
partnership working with residents from the start to 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



the conclusion of a policy or service redesign 
process. 

Being ruthlessly financially efficient Co-production has the potential to enable the Council 
to deliver the services that residents want and need, 
thereby ensuring more cost-effective use of 
resources. By getting investment and service 
provision right first time, it prevents the need for 
expensive adaptations in the future.  

Taking pride in H&F The Council’s commitment to co-producing policies 
and services with Disabled residents is ground-
breaking as H&F is the first to resource it and embed 
it in the Business Planning process. This is 
something the Council and our residents can be 
proud of. 

 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name: Tara Flood/Kevin Caulfield 
Position: Strategic Lead: Co-production (job share) 
Telephone: 07776672367 / 07776672830 
Email: Tara.flood@lbhf.gov.uk / kevin.caulfield@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
 
Proposals and Detailed Analysis 

 
Covid19 and Co-production 
 
1. The COVID-19 crisis presents the council with huge challenges and 

opportunities.  One of those opportunities is to harness the community spirit 
and energy demonstrated by people and organisations across the borough, 
and to bring that together with the already existing and comprehensive range of 
engagement work being undertaken by the Strategy and Communities Team 
and others across the council, the strengthened partnerships with other sectors, 
the Council’s aim to re-frame our relationship with the third sector, and the 
goals identified by the third sector leaders. This creates the potential to link the 
Council’s work with Disabled residents to a much wider relationship with all 
residents. The proposed work around co-production & community engagement 
will be a key driver in the Council’s recovery plan, accelerating co-production 
and collaboration with residents as our response to COVID-19. The work 
continues to evolve, and real progress is being made across the Council in 
terms of creating the framework for designing policies and services in co-
production with Disabled residents. 

 
2. During the pandemic the strategic lead in co-production has been partially re-

deployed to lead on the Council’s relationship with the resident led and newly 
organised Mutual Aid Groups (MAGs).  The MAGs have become a vital partner 
in providing a wide range of practical support to residents who are shielding or 
self-isolating, including everything from personal shopping and dog walking to 
baking, prescription pickups and neighbourly calls to people feeling lonely and 
isolated. Working as part of the COVID-19 emergency response team has 
presented an opportunity to mainstream co-production across different and new 

Page 12

mailto:Tara.flood@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.caulfield@lbhf.gov.uk


areas of the Council, particularly to embed the concept of residents working 
with the Council on elements of the recovery plan. 

 
3. The co-production work continues to be overseen by HF Co-production 

Implementation Group (HFCIG) made up of Disabled residents, Councillors 
and two strategic directors https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-
democracy/co-production/co-production-implementation-group-hfcig which, 
despite a break in meetings early in the lockdown, is now meeting virtually. 

 
Co-production – taking the work forward.  

4. As we move into post pandemic recovery, the work is now focused on the 
launch of co–production resources for staff to build confidence and capacity to 
start co-producing with Disabled residents on a range of issues. We have also 
been working with the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) to include 
H&F as one of their ‘good practice’ examples. We have also been working 
with ASC leads on taking forward the implementation of the Independent 
Living vision for the Council (Appendix 1) and a proposal for a new community 
support offer based on independent living principles to be included in the 
Council’s recovery plan. Lastly, we are supporting the restarting of co-
production in the Resident Experience and Access E Programme and 
implementation of the Disabled People’s Housing Strategy. 

 
5. There is a clearer understanding now that co-production is part of a range of 

community activities with a focus on the ‘right type of engagement with the 
right people, at the right time’. This is reflected in a new action plan being 
developed by the Strategy and Communities team setting out ways in which 
residents can be more actively and widely involved. 

 
6. The H&F Way Initiative groups are being encouraged to think about how their 

work can reflect the Council’s commitment to co-production, particularly with 
the ‘inclusive workplace’ group which has highlighted the need for workplace 
policy and practice to be co-produced with staff. 
 

7. The Council’s Co production webpage went live on the Council’s website in 
January 2020 – www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/co-production. 
This continues to be a focal point for the work, the story so far and links to co-
production opportunities available to residents, staff and the wider community.  
It will provide a space for information sharing, resources and encouraging and 
promoting opportunities for everyone to get involved. The webpage has a 
Council co-production email address and contact details.  
 

8. The Council has budgeted £40,000 for co-production activities across the 
Council in 2020/21 and the strategic leads have working on a process to 
enable council officers to access the monies.  This is in line with 
recommendation six of the Disabled Peoples Commission report.    
 

9. Officers from across the Council are working together to follow up on 
Disability Equality Training (DET) for over 250 front line social care staff 
(adults and children) as well as senior management, including the Strategic 
Leadership Team (SLT). This is likely to mean the development of an action 

Page 13

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/co-production/co-production-implementation-group-hfcig
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/co-production/co-production-implementation-group-hfcig
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/co-production


plan that turns the learning from the DET into practice transformation. Focus 
for discussion is to now find ways to develop co-production/DET/Independent 
Living training for staff across the Council.  
 

10. A final draft of a Disabled People’s Housing Strategy has now been approved. 
It was presented to the Accessible Housing Board in February 2020. A draft 
Terms of Reference has been drawn up with support from the Strategic Leads 
and the group was due to start its’ work in May 2020 but resident recruitment 
has been put on hold due to lockdown restrictions. 
 

11. In October 2019 the SLT approved a new vision statement for Independent 
Living. The vision statement has also agreed by Cllr Coleman, Cabinet 
Member for Health and Social Care. Since then the Strategic Leads have 
drafted a next steps action plan focused on taking an independent living 
approach which it is hoped will feature in the recovery plan. (Appendix 1). 
 

12. Independent living, as defined by Disabled people themselves, means 
Disabled people living in the community with the same choices, control and 
freedom as any other citizen. Independent Living is not just about ‘social care’ 
and it does not mean Disabled People1 doing everything for themselves. The 
same principles extend to people who have long term health conditions and 
people of all ages, including children and young people and older people.  
 

13. The adoption and implementation of the vision statement encourages joint 
working and will make H&F the first local authority to move towards 
Independent Living and away from the traditional model of providing ‘social 
care’ – a ground breaking first.  For Disabled residents this will mean more 
choice and control over the support they receive in the community – who 
provides that support, as well as when and how that support is provided.  
 

14. A new community based Direct Payment Support Service has been 
contracted to Action on Disability with a ground-breaking service specification 
that reflects the Council’s commitment to the Social Model of Disability and 
Co-Production. The Service specification was developed with co-production 
strategic leads. The new service is being overseen by a steering group of 
direct payment users and Commissioning / Council staff. The service has 
been supporting residents and staff with the many challenges that COVID-19 
presents for Disabled residents who employ their own personal assistants. 
 

15. The Strategic Leads are also supporting the Resident Experience and Access 
Programme (REAP) to embed co-production with residents. The REAP is 
seeking to make more Council services accessible online and bring together 
telephone and face to face services so that they are more efficient and 

                                            
1 We use the term Disabled people in this report to include all Disabled people with physical, cognitive, and 

sensory barriers, people with learning difficulties; Deaf people, deafened, hard of hearing people, mental health 
system users, and survivors, neuro-diverse people such as those with Autism, Dyspraxia, Attention Deficit 
Disorder (ADHD), Asperger Syndrome and Dyslexia, people with long term health conditions and people who 
self-identify. We mean Disabled people of all ages that experience barriers including Disabled children & young 
people with Special Educational Needs labels. https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-
commissions/Disabled-people-s-commission/nothing-about-Disabled-people-without-Disabled-people 

Page 14

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-people-s-commission/nothing-about-disabled-people-without-disabled-people
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-people-s-commission/nothing-about-disabled-people-without-disabled-people


inclusive. A REAP Co-production Implementation group was recruited in 
March but its first meeting was cancelled due to COVID-19 lockdown 
restrictions.  The Strategic Leads are now working with REAP lead officers to 
identify ways of restarting co-production with residents. 
 

16. Co-production remains at the heart of the Civic Campus development (King St 
West Development).  A new resident has joined the Disabled residents’ team 
(DRT) with experience of neuro diverse barriers, which are often ignored in 
planning and design projects. Co-production issues are on the agenda for 
every Civic Campus Delivery board meeting. The work has been shortlisted 
for the National Planning Award 2020 
https://www.planningawards.com/finalists/civic-campus-hammersmith//  
 

17. The DRT proposed in September 2019 that the Borough’s cycling initiatives 
be part of their remit to help ensure co-production. The strategic lead 
presented at the Cycling and Walking Commission in July 2020 to explain the 
need to co-produce with Disabled residents early and bring on board the level 
of Inclusive Design expertise to ensure the Council develops street 
environments that are accessible for all our residents.  

 
18. Co-production strategic leads secured ongoing funding and support from the 

Strategic Director for the Economy, which will see the Council taking a more 
strategic approach to the Disability Forum Planning Group2 (DFPG). This will 
increase the capacity of Disabled residents to advise on the levels of Inclusive 
design in a larger number of planning applications.  £10K to support DFPG 
was agreed in December 2019. This work is currently on hold due to 
lockdown restrictions. 
 

19. Very early work has started to support the Council’s Inclusive Employment 
offer (previously known as Supported Employment) to be co-produced. Two 
new co-production assistants’ posts were created and filled by two of the new 
‘inclusive’ apprentices.  Officers are working together to find ways to support 
these roles to develop a strategy to co-produce with Disabled children & 
young people. 
 

20. The Strategic Leads are also working with Council officers leading on Social 
Value to assist in shaping the TOMs (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) 
Framework to improve accessibility and alignment with the Council’s 
commitment to co-production. Our priority are the TOMs linked to the ‘doing 
things with residents not to them’ strategic priority given there are a few large 
contracts being procured, shortly, related to the Civic Campus development. 
Officers are working on this with the Disabled Residents Team. 
 

                                            
2 The DFPG is a group of Disabled residents with lived experience of the barriers Disabled people face 

when using housing, public buildings and public open space.  The group give advice to the Council’s 
Planning Department on planning applications for new buildings. It is the Planning and Development Control 
Committee or council officers who decide on planning applications.  

 

 

Page 15

https://www.planningawards.com/finalists/civic-campus-hammersmith/


21. Independent Evaluation of Co-production, officers are working with Imperial 
College to develop an accessible evaluation framework, in line with 
recommendation eight of the Commission’s report. This work was delayed 
due to lockdown restrictions but has now restarted with a focus on finding 
ways to partner with residents as community evaluators. 
 

22. Beyond the Borough, officers have given presentations at the Learning 
Disability Conference England national conference and Social Care Futures 
national conference both in Manchester.   Officer have also given information 
and advice to Lewisham Disabled People’s Commission, which was set up in 
early March 2020. 

 
Co-Production – ongoing barriers to progress  
 

23. The last few months have been challenging in terms of keeping co-production 
work going. COVID-19 Lockdown restrictions have limited the development 
work the Council can do with residents, although full use has been made of 
online meeting software to keep meeting with Disabled residents. However, 
there continues to be aspects of Council culture and practice that could slow 
progress towards embedding co-production more widely. These include: 

 Focus on process rather than outcomes for resident but hopefully the 
co-production resources and the development of a staff network will 
help to tackle that. 

 Service re-commissioning – more forward planning needed to ensure 
that co-production with residents is built into the start of the process.   

 Low levels of strategic engagement with residents and where there is 
engagement it is inconsistent across departments.  

 Are we recruiting the right people/ consultants who see co-production 
as part of their remit/ skill-set?   

24. The Council’s recovery planning is starting to focus on addressing these 
barriers but we need to find ways to embed co-producing elements of the plan 
with residents to ensure that we are ‘building back better’ and in a way that 
takes the learning from the pandemic and harnesses the energy generated by 
the recent surge in resident-led community action. 

 
Looking ahead  
 
25. The workstreams outlined above are all still in progress so the Strategic 

Leads will continue to support ongoing activities. 
 
26. The Strategic Leads will support the development of a Communities Strategy 

that reflects the range of ways the Council seeks to work with residents to 
include the Ward Action Groups, Resident-led Commissions, the various co-
production groups as well as the growing number of online engagement 
platforms, such as NextDoor and Commonplace. This strategy will recognise 
the work that other departments are doing in terms of engagement (e.g. the 
Resident Involvement Team, Regeneration and the adults and children’s 

Page 16



commissioners) and develop better ways of working across the council, 
streamlining activities, cross-referencing and learning from each other.  

 
27. Officers will continue to prioritise new/revised policies and/or services that are 

likely to have big impact and/or high cost and reputational impact.    Officers 
will also create a staff intranet page as well as two practical resources – a Co-
production checklist for staff and guidance for using the checklist.   
 

28. A Council staff led network of Co-production leads will be set up. This network 
of volunteers will ignite enthusiasm for co-production within departments and 
use the network to share progress and challenges. A person specification has 
been developed and agreed by SLT and a recruitment drive will be launched 
at the World Class Managers Forum in National Co-production Week on the 
9th July 2020.    
 

29. Work will also be undertaken with the Head of Commercial to explore 
opportunities to generate income from the Council’s pioneering work on co-
production. 

 
  

Page 17



Appendix 1  
 
INDEPENDENT LIVING: A POSITION STATEMENT HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 
COUNCIL 
 
Independent living means Disabled people living in the community with the same 
choices, control and freedom as any other citizen, with the removal of barriers to 
equality of opportunity, and where any practical assistance is based on Disabled 
residents’ choices and aspirations. Independent Living is not just about ‘social care’ 
and it does not mean Disabled People3 doing everything for themselves. The same 
principles extend to people who have long term health conditions and people of all 
ages, including children and young people as well as older people.  
 
Independent Living’ is an important part of the UN Convention on the Rights of 
Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD) (Article: 19). Article 19 also says that Disabled 
people should have choices equal to others to live in the community, including 
choice and control over things like who they live with and where. 
 
The ‘Nothing About Disabled People Without Disabled People’ report, which was 
produced by Hammersmith & Fulham’s Disabled People’s Commission (DPC) and 
was approved by Cabinet in December 2017, offers an opportunity to develop an 
ambitious and innovative approach to social care as a key facilitator of Independent 
Living, working with Disabled residents in the borough.  
 
The DPC report recommended the creation of an LBHF Independent Living strategy, 
to be developed by Disabled residents of all ages in Hammersmith & Fulham 
working together (Co-Production). This work is in its early stages.  
 
Over the last thirty years or so, we have seen major improvements in Disabled 
people’s life chances.  Our society now expects Disabled people to be treated with 
respect, to have opportunities, to live in their own homes with their own families and 
make their own contributions to their local communities and to society generally. 
 
The language traditionally, used in social care has been unhelpful in terms of 
facilitating Independent Living so a new more empowering language should be 
adopted which encourages real choice and control in their lives. The table below 
offers some alternatives: 

                                            
3 We use the term Disabled people in this report to include all Disabled people with physical, cognitive, and 

sensory barriers, people with learning difficulties; Deaf people, deafened, hard of hearing people, mental health 
system users, and survivors, neuro-diverse people such as those with Autism, Dyspraxia, Attention Deficit 
Disorder (ADHD), Asperger Syndrome and Dyslexia, people with long term health conditions and people who 
self-identify. We mean Disabled people of all ages that experience barriers including Disabled children & young 
people with Special Educational Needs labels. We use the term Disabled people in this report to include all 

Disabled people with physical, cognitive, and sensory barriers, people with learning difficulties; Deaf people, 
deafened, hard of hearing people, mental health system users, and survivors, neuro-diverse people such as 
those with Dyspraxia, Attention Deficit Disorder (ADHD), Asperger Syndrome and Dyslexia, people with long term 
health conditions and people who self-identify. We mean Disabled people of all ages that experience barriers 
including Disabled children & young people with Special Educational Needs labels. 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-people-s-
commission/nothing-about-disabled-people-without-disabled-people  

Page 18

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-people-s-commission/nothing-about-disabled-people-without-disabled-people
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-people-s-commission/nothing-about-disabled-people-without-disabled-people


 
The new LBHF Independent Living strategy will be coproduced with Disabled 
residents and will focus on a change of culture, by embedding the 12 Pillars to 
Independent Living as defined by Disabled people some 30 years ago but are still as 
relevant today. The 12 Pillars include: 

Comparing social care & Independent Living 

Social care Independent Living 

Being looked after  Choice 

Cared for  Control  

Getting up  Autonomy  

Being fed  Self determination  

Put to bed  Freedom  

Medication time  Human Rights  

Task orientated  Participation  

Doing to  Citizenship  

The '15 minutes call' Spontaneity  

Care Agency  A family life  

Living at home as it’s 
cheaper  

A lifestyle - choosing how 
to live  

Being washed  Equality  

Fitting into available 
services (time orientated). 

Flexibility  

Care plan  Creativity to resolve  

Health & Safety 
procedure 

Taking risks 

John Kelly, April 2017 

 

Page 19



 
Our work will seek to promote, protect, and fulfil the rights of Disabled residents to 
live independently in the community and to secure their full inclusion, contribution, 
and participation in all aspects of social and economic life. There is widespread 
support for public services which meet people's aspirations and the needs of modern 
society. 
 
These aspirations rely on the removal of barriers in all aspects of Disabled people’s 
lives. We all want a society which invests in the things that connect people to one 
another and to communities, the things that make us all feel part of society and not 
‘apart from’ society.   
 
This is a timely opportunity for Hammersmith & Fulham to address the discrimination 
that Disabled people and their families and supporters experience in their everyday 
lives and to pave the way, in a challenging financial climate, by creating better 
support and services with residents making Independent Living a reality.  

 
October 2019 

 
 

1. Full ACCESS to our environment 

2. A fully accessible TRANSPORT system 

     3. Appropriate TECHNICAL AIDS/EQUIPMENT 

      4. Accessible / adapted HOUSING 

     5. PERSONAL ASSISTANCE to enable an independent lifestyle 

     6. Inclusive EDUCATION and TRAINING 

     7. An adequate INCOME 

     8. Equal opportunities for EMPLOYMENT 

     9. Appropriate and accessible INFORMATION 

    10. ADVOCACY (towards self-advocacy) 

     11. Empowering COUNSELLING services 

     12. Appropriate and accessible HEALTH CARE provision. 

 

Page 20



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:  Public Service Reform Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:   28/07/2020 
 
Subject:  H&F Resident-Led Commissions 
 
Report of:  Peter Smith, Head of Policy & Strategy 
 
Responsible Director: Rhian Davies, Director of Resources 
 
 
Summary 
 
H&F Council is committed to ‘doing things with residents, not to them’.  In delivering 
on this commitment the Council has established resident-led commissions to inform 
policy development and service change.  There have been a total of 17 resident-led 
commissions launched since 2014, and this report summarises the purpose, process 
and achievements of those commissions to date. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. The report is for information and discussion and makes no recommendations 
for the Committee to consider. 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 
H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

Doing things with residents, not to 
them 

Resident-led commissions exemplify the 
delivery of this priority as they directly 
engage residents in policy development. 

 
Contact Officer: 
 
Name: Peter Smith 
Position: Head of Policy & Strategy 
Telephone: 07818 402486 
Email: peter.smith@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
None. 
 

 
  

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 
Proposals and Detailed Analysis 
 
1. The key underlying principle of all H&F’s resident-led commissions is to deliver 

on the Council’s key policy priority of “Doing things with residents, not to them”.  
The commissions are key vehicles for engaging residents more fully in policy 
development and service design.  They ensure that the Council’s developing 
policies are directed by, and have the support of, H&F residents. 

 
Establishing an H&F Resident-led Commission 
 
2. A resident-led commission is set up when the Leader and Cabinet have 

identified an issue of concern that requires detailed review in order to make 
informed policy decisions or service changes.  The first step is to appoint a 
committed resident, or someone with strong connections to the borough, to 
chair the commission.  This is done by the Leader and relevant Cabinet 
Member sponsoring the commission.  The chair will then work with the Leader 
and Cabinet sponsor to determine the scope of the new commission’s brief and 
to develop draft terms of reference and criteria for the selection of 
commissioners. 

 
3. In announcing the appointment of a new commission’s chair, the Council will 

issue an invitation to residents to submit expressions of interest (EoIs) to sit on 
the new commission.  These submissions will be required to identify skills, 
experience and expertise relevant to the commission’s brief.  Council officers 
are excluded from sitting on a commission to ensure the commission retains its 
independence.  Councillors’ are often in attendance at some commission 
meetings as Cabinet sponsors but are usually there only in an advisory 
capacity.    

 
4. Over the years an increasing number of residents have been responding to the 

invitation to submit EoIs to join a commission.  The first commission to issue 
such an invitation was the Air Quality Commission in 2015, which attracted nine 
responses.  Over the following 3 years there were steady increases in the 
numbers attracted to the new and emerging commissions and, in mid-2019, the 
Parks Commission received 23 EoIs.   

 
5. In late 2019 the numbers leapt, with the Women’s Equality Commission 

attracting almost 50 EoIs and the Climate and Ecological Emergency 
Commission receiving 65.  The growth in the numbers of residents keen to get 
involved would indicate that the profile of these commissions, and the public 
recognition of their importance in delivering policy change is increasing over 
time.   

 
A Typical Commission’s Work Programme 
 
6. The commissions are independent of the Council and free to establish their 

own work programme but they are supported by council officers. Most 
commissions have followed a similar process in gathering evidence and 
producing their reports, beginning with a literature review of the subject area to 

Page 22



identify and assess current thinking on the issue and how recent research 
might impact on the commission’s view of its brief.   

 
7. Most commissions are also keen to know what other H&F residents think of the 

issue they have been selected to examine and will issue an open call for written 
evidence to gather this information.  This is often followed by oral evidence 
hearings to gather the views of experts in the field and other stakeholders.  
Some commissions will follow this up with new research or surveys to fill any 
gaps in evidence.   One example of this was the Rough Sleeping Commission, 
which commissioned fresh research into rough sleeping in the borough 
involving interviews with 104 people who were, or had recently been, sleeping 
rough in Hammersmith & Fulham.  The Older People’s Commission also 
conducted fresh research into the experiences of older people in the borough. 

 
8. As a commission approaches the final stages of its deliberations and is 

formulating its findings and recommendations, it may choose to initiate public 
hearings or engage in consultation events to test out some of its proposals or 
examine, in more detail, areas that it is still undecided on.  When it has 
completed its evidence gathering it will produce a draft report that will be 
submitted to the appropriate Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) for 
discussion.  The PAC will then refer the report on to Cabinet for consideration 
of its findings and recommendations. 

 
Commissions to Date 

 
9. A total of 17 commissions have been launched over the past five years, with 

some 120 residents having sat on a commission and many hundreds more 
engaged in their work in other ways.  This is a link to the H&F webpage 
detailing the work of each commission: https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-
democracy/resident-led-commissions. 

 
10. There are currently eight commissions in progress: 

 Policing and Crime Commission (launched 2018) 

 Civic Campus Commission (launched 2018) 

 Arts Commission (launched 2019) 

 Climate and Ecological Emergency Commission (launched 2019) 

 Women’s Equality Commission (launched 2020) 

 Parks Commission (launched 2020) 

 Teaching Commission (launched 2020) 

 Cycling and Walking Commission (launched 2020) 
 
11. The following nine commissions have all completed their work and have 

reported to the Council:  

 Commission on Airport Expansion (reported 2015) 

 Air Quality Commission (reported 2016) 

 Business Commission (reported 2017) 

 Poverty and Worklessness Commission (reported 2017) 

 Residents’ Commission on Council Housing (reported 2017) 

 Disabled People’s Commission (reported 2017) 

Page 23

about:blank
about:blank


 Biodiversity Commission (reported 2018) 

 Rough Sleeping Commission (reported 2018) 

 Older People’s Commission (reported 2019) 
 
Success Factors 
 
12. All of the commissions to date have been successful in engaging local 

residents in policy development and producing well-received reports.  There are 
various factors that have contributed to the success of different commissions 
but there are also factors common to the most successful commissions.   

 
13. The most successful commissions have been driven by a strong and committed 

chair but also one who is open-minded to the diversity of views that are brought 
forward during the evidence gathering process.  They are not averse to hearing 
new ideas and testing new theories.  The most successful commissions have 
also embraced a broad diversity of backgrounds among the commissioners, 
best representing the demographic diversity of the borough’s residents.  This 
has tended to elicit a broader range of views on the basis of varied experience.  
The most successful commissions have also had the benefit of officer support 
from across the Council, which has been followed up with strong political will to 
deliver the implementation of the final report’s recommendations. 

 
14. The Air Quality Commission (AQC) was particularly successful in relation to 

the scope of its influence.  It targeted its recommendations at central 
government and regional government, as well as the Council.  A year on from 
the Commission’s final report, not only had the Council implemented the 
majority of the recommendations aimed at it but the Mayor of London had also 
implemented a number of the Commission’s recommendations.  The Leader of 
the Council wrote to the Mayor of London on 8 December 2016 promoting the 
AQC recommendations aimed at him, the GLA and its agencies.  The Mayor 
replied on 9 January 2017 setting out his response to the AQC’s report, 
including the take up of many of the Commission’s recommendations.  

 
15. The timing of the Air Quality Commission was one possible factor in its success 

– it reported at the time that the London Plan was being reviewed and at a time 
when air quality, especially in London, was high on the public’s agenda and 
attracting media attention.  The Commission was also well supported by 
officers from across the Council who shared its desire for change so it was well 
briefed on the areas where actions could make a real difference. 

 
16. It is worth noting that the work of the H&F commissions is being recognised far 

and wide.  In June 2020, H&F officers were contacted by the Government of 
Gibraltar, which was seeking advice on setting up its own Air Quality 
Commission and had been impressed by the work of the H&F AQC. 

 
17. The Rough Sleeping Commission delivered bold recommendations that 

required the Council to focus on a ‘Housing First’ policy, in assisting people 
sleeping rough in the borough.  The Council was equally bold in accepting the 
recommendations and the outcome has seen a continuing drop in the numbers 
of people sleeping rough in Hammersmith and Fulham, which is a reversal of 

Page 24



the London-wide trend where numbers were increasing, prior to the coronavirus 
pandemic and the emergency response.  The 2019 snapshot survey of rough 
sleeping in England (published on 27 February 2020) found only 2 people 
sleeping out in Hammersmith & Fulham – by far the lowest number of any 
borough in Inner London and a reduction from 12 in 2018. 

 
18. The success factors specific to the Rough Sleeping Commission were that 

experts with local knowledge of the issue were brought together to formulate 
recommendations and the Council listened to those recommendations and put 
them into practice.  The Commission also carried out detailed research 
interviews with 104 rough sleepers to provide the evidence base necessary to 
support its recommendations. 

 
19. The Disabled People’s Commission (DPC) will, potentially, prove to have had 

the biggest impact on the way that the Council develops and designs services.  
The Commission quickly came to the conclusion that, whilst welfare benefit 
changes were the primary concern of disabled people in the borough 
(evidenced by public consultation), the focus of the Commission’s 
recommendations should be on the Council, as there was little chance of a 
local commission influencing national government policy.  

 
20. The key recommendation of the DPC’s final report was to establish a 

framework for co-production of policy and service design across the Council, 
meaning that disabled people should be involved from the beginning in the 
development of any policies and the design of any services that might affect 
them.  The Council embraced the ambition of the DPC’s report and a co-
production framework is now being put in place across the Council.  This will 
bring about major changes in the way that the Council formulates policy and 
designs services and has already brought about changes to the design of the 
Civic Campus regeneration project on King Street West. 

 
21. The success factors specific to the DPC were the fact that it was focussed on 

an ambitious objective to change Council practices and targeted its 
recommendations in a way that could have the biggest impact.   This has been 
further backed up with additional resources allocated to the implementation of 
the co-production framework. 

 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
22. The resident-led commissions have demonstrated a strong record of 

achievement and success and have gone a considerable way to informing the 
direction of Council policy in key areas. They have come up with new, 
innovative policy ideas to improve the lives of Hammersmith & Fulham 
residents.  

 
23. The increasing number of residents who seek positions as commissioners 

provides further evidence of the fact that local people are seeing the 
commissions as providing a genuine forum to initiate and drive policy in many 
areas of public service. The engagement with the public undertaken by the 

Page 25



commissions, and the local expertise that this has unlocked, has been of great 
benefit to the policy making process.  

  
24. On a broader front, the commissions provide a connectivity between local 

people and their local authority at a time when political policy making is all too 
often seen as being too remote from the public.  In this sense, Hammersmith 
and Fulham is maintaining a clear commitment to doing things with residents 
and not to them.  

 

Page 26



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:  Public Service Reform Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:   28/07/2020 
 
Subject:  Covid-19 response and recovery  
 
Report of:  Linda Jackson, Director of Covid-19 Response and Recovery,  
                      Dr Nicola Lang, Director of Public Health 
                      Steve Hollingworth, Assistant Director Leisure, Sports and Culture 
 
Responsible Director: Lisa Redfern, Strategic Director of Social Care 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report summarises the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic. It 
sets out the interim governance arrangements established to enable the Council to 
take quick and decisive action in effectively managing the impacts of the coronavirus 
as they arise and our actions for recovery as lockdown is lifted. 
 
This global situation is continuously evolving and as such this report presents a 
snapshot, in time, based on information available at the time of writing. 

 
Recommendations 
 

1. That the PSR PAC note the report and comment on: 

 the Council’s activity to tackle Covid-19 pandemic and help keep 
residents, staff and workers safe in the borough  

 the Council’s recovery work and learning as well as preparedness for 
any second wave and/or localised outbreaks.  

 
 

 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
 

H&F Priorities  

Building shared prosperity Through the recovery programme we are working 
with stakeholders to re-energise our economy. 

Creating a compassionate 
council 
 

Throughout the pandemic, compassion has driven 
people and their communities to support each other. 
Departments have worked across the Council to 
deliver services to those most in need, providing 
substantially more support than many authorities.  

Doing things with residents, 
not to them 
 

Teams across the Council have engaged with 
residents to support social distancing campaigns. 
The CAN & MAGs are revolutionising the way we 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



work communities, with residents providing support 
to one another. 
The recovery programme also seeks to develop new 
models of delivery through co-production. 

Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 
 

Whilst the pandemic has resulted in significant 
costs, officers have ensured value for money e.g. 
making best use of grants, the workforce and using 
learnings from the Covid-19 outbreak to reimagine 
working practices.   

Taking pride in H&F 
 

The pandemic has shown how much pride and 
community ownership there is across the borough. 

  
 
Contact Officer 
Name: Linda Jackson  
Position: Director of Covid-19 Response and Recovery 
Telephone: 07776 673085 
 
Appendices  
Appendix 1 - Governance structures and workstreams 
Appendix 2 - Challenges and achievements through Covid-19 
Appendix 3 – Recovery Plan 
 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None 
 

 
1. Introduction  

 
1.1 On 31 December 2019, the World Health Organization (WHO) was informed 

of a cluster of cases of pneumonia of unknown cause detected in Wuhan City, 
Hubei Province, China. On 12 January 2020, it was announced that a novel 
coronavirus had been identified in samples obtained from cases, and that 
initial analysis of virus genetic sequences suggested that this was the cause 
of the outbreak. This virus became referred to as SARS-CoV-2, and the 
associated disease named Covid-19 by the WHO on 11 February 2020. 

 
 
2. Governance arrangements 

 
2.1 In January 2020, the Public Health team started monitoring the growing 

pandemic and as the global pandemic unfolded, the Council commenced swift 
actions in line with civil contingency response structures. The borough 
emergency planning functions were stood up, and a detailed and challenging 
plan of work was embarked upon to reduce the rates of infection in the 
borough.  
 

2.2 On 12 March 2020, the Chief Executive appointed a seconded Deputy 
Director of Social Care into to the role of Director of Covid-19 response, and a 

Page 28



governance structure was established together with business continuity 
arrangements to protect critical services.  
 

2.3 Formal links into the region through the LRF (Local Resilience Forum)1 were 
established as a Major Incident was declared, in line with guidance. Other 
emergency measures included increasing the Chief Executive’s delegated 
authority to spend for Covid-19-related matters activities to £2m for capital 
and revenue expenditure.  
 

2.4 A Covid-19 business continuity framework set out and risk assessed priority 
services to ensure focus on maintaining those most critical services. This was 
organised through five initial workstreams:  
 Strategic group (H&F Gold senior officers’ group which served as the 

overall decision-making group, in addition H&F Borough Resilience Forum 
(including partner agencies) and West London Alliance Chief 
Executives Local Resilience Board.  

 Tactical/ Operational group (Silver officers’ group & Horizon 
scanning group) – focus on delivery of business-critical services2.  

 Residents & community - Communications, engagement, reassurance, 
services to shielded residents, mobilisation of volunteer residents through 
Community Aid Network, food support and support to vulnerable families 
and residents.  

 Workforce resilience - during lockdown move to home working for 
85/90% of the workforce; enhanced office/workplace cleaning regime; 
assisted parking and accommodation offers for key workers delivering 
critical services.  

 Partners/ economy and reputation – liaison and 
support including priority parking support to NHS, schools and 
key partners.  

  
2.5 These governance arrangements enabled the Council to more easily support 

residents, monitor the impacts of the pandemic and provide ongoing advice 
and support to Council staff. The Council at all stages followed Public Health 
England (PHE) advice and guidance, having regular meetings to continually 
review the situation. Appendix 1 shows the governance structures and 
workstreams established to manage the response. 

 
 
3. Immediate service impacts 

 
3.1 A series of important and significant decisions were taken in the first weeks of 

the crisis, ahead of the government guidance - which had and continues to 
have a major impact both organisationally and financially on the Council.  
These included an earlier move from contain to delay phase where we moved 
quickly to stop routine council meetings and services: 
 Ceasing in person council meetings and changing them to virtual 

meetings e.g. the Harwood Rd community consultation  
 Closure of schools 

Page 29



 Closing all Council buildings and sending all staff to work from home 
(aside from a very small number of critical staff who worked on rota in 
offices) 

 Moving all services to focus on supporting only critical services 
 Closing all the Council’s Libraries 
 Closing all Leisure Centres 
 Closing all construction sites in the area including our capital scheme 
 Stopping all Car Park Charges  
 Closure of 145 Kings Street to the public 
 Closure of all day, children’s services and community centres. 

 
3.2 These decisions were taken at pace to ensure the safety and protection of the 

community, individuals and staff. The implications both direct, indirect and 
financially, however, are likely to last for a significant period. 

 
 
4. The creation of H&F CAN - compassionate communities for the future 

 
4.1 The Council quickly established the H&F Community Aid Network (H&F CAN).  

This has supported residents to maintain their safety, health and wellbeing 
through a dedicated contact centre and to gain access to practical support, 
personal shoppers, food parcels, information and advice.  As around an initial 
1,500 residents were advised by their GPs/Consultants to shield within their 
own homes for a minimum of 12 weeks, this required the Council to set up a 
separate shielded call centre staffed with 100 officers, all of whom 
volunteered to be redeployed into the contact centre. 
 

4.2 H&F CAN has been hugely successful, inspiring and supporting residents to 
look after themselves and each other. This project has taken on a new 
importance in our community resilience response.  In total, 2,300 residents 
have stepped forward to support other people in their community.  Some of 
the highlights include: 
• Shielded residents - 8,8921 contacted through H&F contact centre, 

development of peer support opportunities through the H&F CAN 
volunteers (2,300 joined). There have been 18,116 hits on our C19 
website page and 6,109 calls to the CAN hotline. 

• Non-shielding residents in need were assisted through community efforts 
to distribute food parcels (125,000 meals sent out from H&F Foodbank - 
more than across all of 2019) to households, including those in temporary 
accommodation.  

 
 
5. Political governance and oversight 
 
5.1 In March, a decision was taken to cease all political meetings to enable 

Councillors to maintain social distancing and support their constituents.  
Throughout the crisis, the Leader and Deputy Leader have kept in frequent 

                                            
1
 Statistics on CAN/Shield/food accurate as of 24/06/20 

Page 30



contact with the Chief Executive, Strategic Leadership Team (SLT), and the 
Directors of Public Health and Covid-19 Response and Recovery, including 
fortnightly, Strategic Update Meetings. Cabinet portfolio holders have also 
kept in very close, often, at least daily contact with their SLT Directors.   
 

5.2 The Leader has been very active in co-ordinating key partners in the response 
to the incident which has included: 
 Speaking regularly with other local Council Leaders 
 Chairing of the West London Alliance (WLA) Economic Prosperity 

Board with key businesses and business groups 
 Actively lobbing local and national politicians on safety measures and 

financial concerns  
 Undertaking several local and national press interviews passing on 

guidance to residents, and highlighting the Council's Covid-19 
response and the resulting financial difficulties. 

 
 
6. Financial impacts and emergency funding 
 
6.1 The government’s position on funding the financial pressures faced by 

Councils in responding to, and as a result of, the Covid-19 pandemic has 
lacked clarity and has evolved during the response period. Initial 
representations that Councils would be fully funded for the impact were 
replaced with separate grant funding announcements and allocations. 
 

6.2 A separate detailed report on the Financial Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic 
on the Council has been reported to the Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy and Accountability Committee. In summary, that report sets 
out that, based on confirmed allocations to date, an adverse impact of at least  

                £27 million was forecast. Since then, the latest funding announcement of 2 
July suggests this   impact will be reduced. Full details and allocations are not 
yet available.  

 
Table 1 – Financial impact of Covid-19 on Hammersmith & Fulham (June 
MCHLG Return) 

 

 £m 

Expenditure 14.430 

Income loss (fees and charges and commercial) 16.218 

Income loss (council tax and business rates) 7.900 

Total expenditure and income loss 38.548 

Confirmed un-ringfenced emergency Covid-19 grant (11.535) 

Additional un-ringfenced grant and partial compensation for 
income loss (July 2 MCHLG announcement) 

TBC 

Grant shortfall 27.013 

Housing Revenue Account element of shortfall 2.369 

 
6.3 The forecast is based on our best estimate of costs and revenue losses offset 

by confirmed grant allocations at a point in time in a constantly changing and 
unpredictable environment. The forecast continues to change and be updated 

Page 31



as the pandemic, and government and the Council’s response to it, evolves. If 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is not fully funded by government, these 
costs will fall to the council and need to be met from either reduction of 
spending in other areas and budgets or reserves. Any funding from reserves 
could provide only a short-term solution and the Council would need to put 
plans in place to replenish these to ensure future financial resilience.  
 

6.4 The Council has also received other specific and ringfenced grants for 
activities during the pandemic. For example, business grants and test and 
trace funding. Further details are included in the Finance, Commercial 
Revenue and Contracts Policy and Accountability Committee report.  

 
 
7. Workforce 
 
7.1 In response to the pandemic, many changes have been required to enable 

the Council’s staff to continue to operate as effectively as possible and to 
ensure they continue to support local communities, businesses and partners. 
 

7.2 With a few exceptions such as Digital Services and Social Worker duty teams, 
all office-based staff have worked remotely from home since 23 March, in 
accordance with government guidance.  The Council’s technology 
infrastructure and resources have stood up well, enabling up to 1,700 
members of staff to work remotely.   
 

7.3 The People & Talent (P&T) team have led: 
 Staff redeployment scheme (Talent Pool) – 180 staff redeployed to 

support Priority 1 services2 plus all staff deployed onto business-critical 
activity only. 

 Changes to HR policy related advice and guidance to support and align 
with a Pan-London HR response to Covid-19 (managing staff in 
emergencies). 

 An agile approach to staff wellbeing and resilience – massive programme 
of engagement and support with a dedicated intranet site ‘build my 
resilience’ for access to all tools and communications.  Wellbeing 
Wednesdays has proven extremely successful with staff. 

 A revised approach to staff communications and weekly staff briefings 
 A new ‘appraisal lite’ scheme designed by H&F Way staff volunteers to 

enable performance conversations this year. 
 A robust vacancy and agency management procedure and process 
 New – ‘People plan on a page’ (to deliver the People Strategy in a 

pandemic in 2020/21) to inform the recovery programme: 

 Creating our new normal - 24/7 business, reshaping organisational 
operating models, targeted voluntary redundancy, agile and flexible 
working practices.  

 Work anywhere – operational plan aligned to the new property 
strategy, 75% staff working from home, remote working solutions, 

                                            
2
 Priority 1 services are defined in the Councils business Continuity planning guidance 

Page 32



standardise a WFH IT kit, back to work packs, new vision narrative, 
new behaviours/nudges, new engagement solutions. 

 Workplace readiness programme – Covid19-secure activity 
including; reorganising our buildings, signage and practices to bring 
people back to work safely, carrying out service and employee risk 
assessments, workplace desk allocations departments, 1,700 staff 
remain at home for the present time, ensuring staff have the right 
equipment, support, training and workstation set up at home.  

 Recruiting great people – earn whilst you learn academy, revised 
recruitment, induction and onboarding, sponsorship programme, career 
pathways, employer brand, diversity and inclusion. 

 Workforce efficiency - going further faster on savings plans (agency 
reduction, lean management, T&C’s).  

 
 

8. Business continuity 
 
8.1 A comprehensive Covid-19 Incident Log has recorded all key issues and 

decisions to ensure they are acted upon and a detailed account is retained for 
future reference, evaluation and feedback.  A SharePoint3 Coronavirus Co-
ordination Group site has enabled easy and accessible sharing of documents, 
information and data among key officers. All the information regarding the 
Council's approach, response and key decisions relating to the pandemic can 
be found in this site. 
 

8.2 Sitreps4 have provided daily or weekly updates to the Tactical Group about 
Business-Critical Functions, all of which are saved in SharePoint and 
recorded on the incident log where necessary.  In addition, with its command 
and control function, the BECC 5receives escalations from services which 
can’t be resolved through regular management arrangements. The BECC 
reports these issues up to Gold for decision/resolution. So far, the BECC has 
logged, analysed and actioned over 2,772 logged items. 

 
 
9. Performance dashboard and risk management planning 
 
9.1 The Council has an intelligence-led approach to monitoring performance and 

the management of Covid-19 in the borough. A range of dashboards have 
been built to monitor infection rates and impacts on communities, for 
operational responses such as CAN, Shield, Personal Protective equipment 
(PPE) and workforce resilience. In addition, Council departments have a 
range of performance dashboards to monitor service delivery.   

                                            
3
 SharePoint is a document management and collaboration tool developed by Microsoft that is used 

for internal purposes to assist with bringing an organisation together. 
 
4
 A Sitrep (Situation Report) is a form of status reporting that provides decision-makers and readers 

with a quick understanding of the current situation 
 
5
 BECC- Borough emergency control room 

Page 33



 
9.2 The council has also maintained a Covid-19 risk register, which is used in 

tactical group to monitor services and communities and in turn inform our 
ability to horizon scan throughout the pandemic. This has allowed the Council 
to stay one step ahead. 

 
 
10. Challenges and achievements March – July 2020 
 
10.1 To reduce the length of this report, Appendix 2 highlights some of the key 

challenges and achievements for each of the directorates during this time. 
 

 
11. Recovery 
 
11.1 At the start of May 2020, the Chief Executive and SLT started plans to move 

to the next phase of emergency planning leadership in planning for the 
recovery of the Council and borough. This started with extension of the 
Director of Covid-19 secondment to oversee recovery and the establishment 
of a virtual team to co-ordinate the recovery programme. The governance 
structure for recovery and the strategic plan is attached at Appendix 1.   

 
11.2 The Recovery Board is chaired by the Chief Executive, its objectives are: 

 Provide strategic officer leadership to determine H&F’s recovery response 

 Play a significant role in ensuring the coordinated delivery of the recovery 
response, both internally within the Council and externally throughout the 
borough 

 Influence local, regional and national partners to drive H&F’s recovery 

 Ensure evidence gathering, analysis and best practice sharing to inform 
the future response methods 

 Ensure there is strong leadership in decisions that impact on the workforce 
and those decisions are fully risk managed and seek to maximise the skills 
of the workforce 

 Provide clarity on the future direction of all major Council services against 
the restore, retain, re-imagine or remove framework. 

 
11.3 The Board’s key priorities include: 

 Economic impact, support and recovery - including stabilisation, 
stimulation, and development of a more resilient, inclusive and green 
economy 

 Support for vulnerable residents - including addressing family poverty and 
worklessness 

 Health and Social Care - including transformation and integration to a ‘new 
normal’, working closely with NHS and other partners 

 Relationships - including with West London and wider London authorities 
ensuring consistency where required 

 Risk management and mitigation of the transition to recovery 

 The Council’s financial resilience - both revenue and capital 

 The Council’s workforce resilience - both resources and skills 

Page 34



 The Council’s transformation - including the sustainability of new ways of 
working developed during the response to Covid-19; how the Council may 
adapt to a phased release (and ramping up) of the lockdown and what this 
means for service delivery.   

 Evidence base and analysis - including closely monitoring impacts and the 
effectiveness of responses, and informing decision making on the above 
areas. 

 
12. Contact tracing and prevention 
 
12.1 The council has also set up a Covid-19 Board, chaired by the Director of 

Covid-19 and the Director of Public Health, accountable to the recovery 
board.  Many outbreak plans have been developed to cover different outbreak 
settings such as schools, care homes, transport, and faith settings and they 
are all being individually tested.  This will support the council to proactively 
manage confirmed cases in the borough.   
 

12.2 It is critical that the Council accesses as much information as possible to 
enable us to manage and provide appropriate and timely support to residents.  
It is this principle that has led us to enter into a partnership with Imperial NHS 
Trust, to share anonymised information. This will allow us not only to respond 
to any outbreak, but through using data we can take proactive and 
preventative measures and target areas of our communities most at risk.  

Page 35



✓ Vulnerable People 
✓ Community resilience
✓ Volunteer planning including 3rd sector
✓ Risk Management
✓ Food
✓ Faith sector
✓ Personal Protective Equipment

✓ Events – control and advice
✓ Remote working
✓ HR processes and monitoring
✓ Advice and guidance
✓ Risk assessment
✓ Upskilling plan
✓ Workforce mapping
✓ Staff accommodation

✓ Schools 
• Businesses
✓ 3rd sector
• Asset Plan
✓ Borough mutual aid plan 
✓ Transport
• Economic resilience plan

Director of COVID-19

Enablers

COVID-19 Borough Plan

set up Command and control team- now virtual

BCP

✓ Business Intelligence and analytics
✓ Technology/Digital

• Asset management 
✓ Communications

✓ Finance and Procurement
✓ Workforce skill mix

EP

Event/meetings 
Restart 

programme

Residents and 
communities

Workforce resilience
Partners / Economy/ 
reputation

Aim: To be a resilient and transparent council leading the borough response to
C19 Version 3

Comms 
Plan

Decisions 
and 

solutions 
ongoing

P
age 36



H&F phased response to COVID 19

Prevention

•Risk management

Response

•Emergency Response, 
Crisis management, 
Management PR

Recovery 

•Business plans, 
Disaster recovery 
plans

Getting back to normal

•Damage restoration 
plan

Back to normal

•Migration, restart, of 
all business functions, 
stand down

Contain Delay Research Mitigate

May 2020- November 2020 dependant on 
wave2

Full 
economic 
recovery 

2023P
age 37



Appendix 2 – Challenges activities and achievements through 
Covid-19 March – July 2020 
 
1. Public Health 

 
1.1 We have been required to develop Local Outbreak Control Plans (an outbreak 

is classed as one person testing positive) to include seven points spanning 
rapid deployment of testing, community engagement, and care of vulnerable 
groups. 
 

1.2 The Council has a statutory responsibility for undertaking certain health 
protection functions (such as the enforcement of controls to prevent the 
spread of infectious disease) so we will continue to work with the acting 
Director of Public Health, the Head of Environmental Health and colleagues in 
Public Health England to help understand and deliver these Programmes.  
The work to protect care homes by testing all residents from mid-April 
onwards was enabled by a rapid partnership with the Imperial Dementia 
Research Institute, Imperial NHS Trust, and our local GPs.  This work has 
been published in a scientific peer reviewed journal1. In addition Testing case 
study published, also published in DASS & LGA2 website. 

 
1.3 The Environmental Health team are working closely with businesses currently 

open and those that wish to open shortly to provide advice and support in 
respect of “Covid-19 secure” requirements. The Environmental Health team is 
also undertaking community informed prevention activities such as detailed 
advice and a visit to Shepherd’s Bush Mosque. They gave advice on social 
distancing measures and information posters in Arabic about prevention 
methods such as hand hygiene. 
 

1.4 Public Health and the community engagement officer have been holding 
listening exercises with faith groups and BAME groups to hear the concerns of 
residents and tailor our responses accordingly.  

 
1.5 The Food Standards Agency have stated the Council must still undertake 

urgent reactive work to address potentially serious public health risk relating to 
food.  

 
 
2. Shield & CAN 
 
2.1 During the response phase, we have worked alongside volunteers and third 

sector organisations to provide food, emotional and practical support to 
residents including: 
• Shielded residents - 8,892 contacted through H&F contact centre, 

development of peer support opportunities through the H&F CAN 
volunteers (2,667 joined). There have been 18,116 hits on our C19 
website page and 6,109 calls to CAN hotline. 

                                                      
1
 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0163445320303480?via%3Dihub 

2
 DASS Director of Adult Social Services. LGA- Local Government Association 

Page 38



• Vulnerable, although not officially ‘shielding’ residents assisted through 
supporting community efforts to distribute food parcels (125,000 meals 
sent out from H&F Foodbank- more than issued in the entirety of 2019) to 
households, including those in temporary accommodation. 

• Developing and offering a Public Health-led approach to support residents 
who have been shielding to gain confidence and heath & wellbeing tools 
to return into society. 

• As the demand on the contact centre reduces, through the lifting of 
lockdown, revised opening hours are being tested. 

• Plans to step up capacity of H&F CAN contact centre are underway in the 
likelihood of a second wave. 

 
 
3. Environment 
 
3.1 Due to Covid-19, there has been a reduction in commercial waste income and 

an increase in household waste quantities caused by more people staying at 
home. Compared to other councils, Covid-19 has had a limited impact on our 
waste services due to the resilience and commitment of both staff and our 
contractor, Serco.  An agile approach by our contractor and staff has enabled 
us to keep streets clean, managing new litter hotspots and demand changes 
effectively. 
 

3.2 Parking services were significantly impacted due to the lack of traffic activity. 
Paid parking was reduced by 80% and enforcement activity was down 90%, 
which has impacted on expected parking revenues. Over 3,000 key worker 
parking requests have been facilitated that has enabled them to park in the 
borough free of charge.  
 

3.3 The data shows substantial reductions in average NO2 levels of up to 40% in 
Hammersmith & Fulham in April and May. In April, Hammersmith & Fulham 
residents recycled a record amount, with 25.37% of our waste being recycled. 
Not only that, but the recycling was cleaner than ever, with contamination 
levels reducing by three percentage points.  
 

3.4 By adopting a new core priority of ‘rising to the challenge of the climate and 
ecological emergency’, SLT will ensure climate change and the borough’s net-
zero carbon emissions by 2030 target is adopted across the Council and is 
embedded in decision-making at all levels. A resident-led climate and 
ecological emergency commission and dedicated Climate Champions will 
build on pandemic community networks to coordinate climate action and 
foster behaviour change.  The next step is development of an ambitious, 
comprehensive and cross-cutting strategy for the borough that considers the 
climate emergency through a post-Covid-19 lens. Working groups focused on 
specific strategy areas and knowledge topics across the council will be 
essential to build this. 
 

3.5 Online registrations of deaths have been completed during the pandemic, and 
all other registration activity ceased. Plans are in place to clear the backlog of 

Page 39



birth registrations (1,660 new births) and to ensure Clockwork’s facilities are 
Covid-19-secure. 
 

3.6 Resident Services have supported our residents and businesses at this time 
by: 

 Introducing a new Discretionary Council Tax Support scheme of £1.4 
million 

 Extending Local Support Payments to assist those waiting for benefits 

 Awarding Retail Discounts of £122 million to 2,654 businesses 

 Awarding Nursery Discounts of £902,000 to 25 nurseries 

 Awarding Business Rates Grants of £43.6 million to 2,563 businesses.    
 

3.7 A new service was introduced to protect our residents during Covid-19 as part 
of our responsibilities under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which was 
Social Distancing in parks, Thames River walk and Hammersmith Bridge. This 
was implemented due to a small minority of people flouting the government 
instructions of keeping 2 metres apart. The patrol teams were comprised of 
parks police, civil enforcement officers, highways contractors and volunteers 
across the Council. The Council has received compliments for this service and 
assisted in communicating the 2 metres apart messaging to our residents. 
 

3.8 We considered the implications of the next phase of changes to lockdown for 
England announced by the Prime Minister on 24 May and 28 May. We 
reviewed our management of social distancing across the whole of the 
borough including parks and open spaces and agreed a way forward on social 
distancing in our shopping areas across the borough. We have put in place 
measures to assist social distancing in Kings Street, North End Road and 
Uxbridge Road, and these measures have enabled self-policing supporting 
the 2m social distancing guidance which is still in place. 
 

3.9 The highways team have put in place additional safer cycle ways and other 
pedestrian measures that support social distancing and protect cyclist across 
the borough. 

 
 
4. The Economy 

 
4.1 Despite the borough having a highly qualified workforce dominated by 

managerial and professional occupations (meaning that an economic 
downturn might be expected to have less of an impact), groups including 
young people, BAME and disabled residents are likely to be most impacted in 
the post-Covid-19 economy: 
• In-work poverty and insecure employment disproportionately impact these 

groups. H&F is also more exposed to the low-wage and very badly 
affected hospitality sector than any other West London borough. 

• Entertainment and sport were very badly hit by the lockdown. 
• Large non-food elements of the retail sector (18% of the economy) has 

experienced detrimental impact.  
• The number of Universal Credit claimants across the two job centres in 

the borough doubled during the height of the crisis and although new 

Page 40



claims are slowing down, there may be a further jump once furlough 
schemes come to an end.   

• Universities are important redevelopment sites (including the Imperial 
College site in White City), and the plight of universities across West 
London is a real source of concern (although Imperial is very robust 
compared with most). 
 

4.2 We have seen a significant drop in planning applications, which has impacted 
on income. However, we have continued to determine planning applications 
and have maintained our role as statutory consultees. 
 

4.3 The Council has only been doing emergency repairs during lockdown.  
Nevertheless, there has been an increase in repairs requests, especially since 
lockdown began to ease. Some residents would like work to take place, others 
are more cautious. We are working with residents to ensure that safety is 
paramount, specific guidance is followed in relation to working in people’s 
houses, paying notice to social distancing and PPE. 
 

4.4 252 rough sleepers have been offered accommodation by H&F. The Greater 
London Authority (GLA) also commissioned 120 bedrooms from a H&F hotel 
at the start of the lockdown. The hotel decant plan scheduled for mid- July is 
on track. A multi-agency action plan is being developed to reduce risk of anti-
social behaviour associated with hotels.  
 

4.5 The Council will prepare its own Economic Recovery Strategy using the input 
from constant dialogue with remote Industrial Strategy working groups. This 
will be presented at the next Industrial Strategy Board in mid-July.  A 
Discretionary Business Grant commenced on 17 June, targeting small and 
micro businesses that were not eligible for the small business grant scheme. 
Applications closed on 1 July, with 190 applications received.  
 

4.6 We are also alerting businesses that are eligible for central government 
funding.  
 

4.7 A “Shop Local” campaign was launched on 12 June and has been widely 
promoted across the borough.  We are also working on a plan to support more 
trading in open spaces and highways where permissible. 
 
Working closely with the Director of public Health, we have been 
communicating govt guidance about safely returning to the workplace to all 
our businesses through the business newsletter and our social media 
platforms.  

 
5. Adult Social Care 
 
5.1 Most of the PPE issued has been to Adult Social Care providers (including 

PPE training and support), the remainder being schools, children with 
disabilities, and direct payments recipients. So far 4,549,307 items of 
equipment, costing £2,094,294 has been delivered. We are maintaining a 

Page 41



month’s supply in stores to ensure that we can be agile in our response to a 
2nd wave. 
 

5.2 Daily calls with social care providers have ensured that any problems are 
dealt with quickly to avoid loss of service delivery to vulnerable adults. As of 
the beginning of July 2020, all four main care homes, temporarily closed, have 
now be re-opened. They are subject to very strict guidelines: residents 
discharged from hospitals are all tested prior to discharge. 
 

5.3 Home care provision has been maintained throughout and very robustly 
monitored with daily calls with all providers. In addition, daily ‘welfare’ check 
calls, by Adult Social Care in a service they called conversation matters have 
been made by social care officers, to people in receipt of support. Weekly 
sitreps have been kept and submitted to the director to ensure robust 
assurance and in order to keep people safe. 
 

5.4 H&F have also been underwriting up to £200 per week for care staff who have 
been tested positive to take time to self-isolate. This was a tremendous 
incentive to get staff tested and reduce infection rates. 

 
 
6. Children’s Services 
 
6.1 100% of primary and secondary schools are offering online learning and 

classroom contact and 5 H&F schools have been chosen to be part of a 
cohort of 15 London schools piloting the PHE testing programme. We have 
co-developed a recovery curriculum and have early plans for extending the 
tutoring and catch up programme announced this week. H&F primary schools 
remained open to priority children throughout the pandemic, and the Council 
established holiday hubs and summer provision with our commissioned 
partners. All secondary schools have now opened to 25% of their combined 
year 10 & 12. Attendance at school overall has increased from 1.5% to 18.5%. 
 

6.2 Services are operational from 145 King Street to respond to new safeguarding 
referrals. All 1,300 children open to CHS social care have been RAG rated in 
relation to risk. 100% of children on Child Protection Plans have received 
face-to-face visits. All statutory meetings i.e. review for children in care and 
child protection conferences are being held virtually and to statutory 
timeframes. Plans are in place to manage the impact of a post Covid-19 
demand for services, in addition to the possibility of a 2nd wave. 

 

Page 42



IMPERATIVES AND DRIVERS FOR TRANSITION
What do we want to achieve over the next 18 months?

1

Evolving CV19 
Response for some 

services
Adult Social Care
Children's services
Rough sleepers ,

PPE
Contact tracing

Co-production  & 
collaboration

Working with partners 
and stakeholders   
Bigger role in co-

production and delivery 
with key collaborators 

in Vol orgs

Rebuilding our 
Economy

Business resilience
Rebooting the economy

Meeting the new 
challenge for employment 

and jobs 

Financial resilience & 
Innovation

Reframing services and 
budgets at pace

Service innovation and 
learning

Key Drivers 
*A new financial strategy * Political Priorities* Continued Rapid adaptation of Services (Restore, Retain, Remove, Reinvent)

Our role as employer, public health lead, local authority and compassionate Council 

P
age 43



Recovery Planning

H&F phased approach to 
Transition planning process

Public Health England
Pandemic planning

Government phases to
relaxing lockdown

Reinvent Restore Remove Retain Recovery

Risk management
Emergency response, 
Crisis management, 

Communications
Business plans, 

management plans

Damage restoration 
plans, horizon scanning, 
scenario planning

• Migration, restart of business 
function, total recovery

Contain Delay Research Mitigate

CURRENT VIEW OF OVERALL TIME LINE 1st PHASE TRANSITION 

March 13th- More 
people actively 

encouraged to go back 
to work, ease 

restrictions on none 
contact sport

1st June some schools , 
early years and 

businesses and some 
none essential shops will 

re-open. Possible 
sporting events behind 

closed doors

July 4th some remaining 
businesses including 

hair- dressers, and social 
spaces may reopen-

social distancing 
measures in place

September- schools may 
open.  possible opening 
with pubs, restaurants  
where it is possible to 

continue social distancing 
measures

P
age 44



3

Emergency 

Response
Consolidation

Recovery Planning and 
Mobilisation

Emergency Response/BECC 
established

Community Aid Network set up-
CAN

Shielding started

Protection and Safety

Key Services Resilience

BAU continuation

Impacts 
and 
responses

Our 
Approach

Transition & Response 
Recovery Management

Command and control to ensure 
pace

Urgent decision making in place

Rapid development of services to 
face urgent demand

Staff and partner health 
prioritised 

Redeployment of Staff

Horizon Scanning established

Weaknesses in supplier resilience

Grant support to businesses

Sourcing PPE

Rising community hardship

Council finances continue to be 
challenged

Economic impact felt in 
communities

Risks to high street viability

Major programmes rephased

Integration of front door and 
prevention services

Shift Council operational set up

Supporting people with trauma

Continual risk assessment in face 
of relapse

Draft impact assessments 
complete

Recovery Group established

Council core financial picture 
established

Review of major programmes

Recovery plans per directorate

Staff re-allocations to deal with 
pent up demand

Communications plan in place

Less silos with focus on a single 
purpose

Staff doing multiple roles

WFH is the norm

Maximising volunteer 
contribution

Supporting staff welfare

Reconfigure our Medium term 
financial plan

Co-produce and co-design 
solutions

Shift our ways of working

Compassionate borough model 
with CAN at the forefront

WFH matures and consolidates

More flexible staff roles

Identifying new types of customer

Establishing a strategic vision

Organisational development and 
workforce planning

Enabling systems set up

Re-imagining services

Recovery dashboard established

Collaboration across themes

Working together as partners with 
community groups

Re-invention

Exit to the consolidation and 
review

What does this look like?

Weeks 1-4 Weeks 4-8 Week 8- 10
From week 8 towards 18 

months to 2 Years
2 Years +

Higher risk taking and innovating 
organisation?

Testing and adapting faster?

Breaking silos to focus on 
outcomes?

Working alongside residents?

Staff empowered to innovate and 
make decisions?

RE-INVENTION STARTS NOW

P
age 45



Strategic areas to focus on

Vulnerable 
clients we 
support

Wider 
community

Council Vision, 
Values, Brand

Finance 
Funding, impact

Workforce & 
Workplace 

Customer 
Experience

Stakeholders & 
Providers

Regulation

What has to be 
done

P
age 46



Leadership, governance and delivery system

5

Gold  SLT  

CHS- service led 
& continual 

learning-
Jacqui 

McShannon

Recovery Board 
(Chair – Kim Smith)BECC

Themes

*Maintain 
response

*Transformation
Workforce& 

residents 
participation & 
Co-production

*Place- new 
neighbourhoods
, environment & 

Economy

Economy-
Service led & 

continual 
learning

Jo Rowlands

Environment-
Service led 
&continual 

learning
Sharon Lea

Recovery Leadership & 
Horizon scanning 

Coordination Group

Gateway panel
( Check & Challenge)

Info Pack for Boards to 
include:
o Risk Register
o Activity dashboard
o SLT financial resilience & 
recovery tests
o Horizon scanning

ASC -Service led 
& continual 
learning -

Lisa Redfern

Time limited

Finance and
resources-

Rhian Davies 
& Emily Hill

P
age 47


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Co-production update
	6 Resident-Led Commissions
	7 Covid-19 response and recovery
	Appendix 1 - Governance Structures and Workstreams
	Appendix 2 – Challenges, activities and achievements
	Appendix 3 - Recovery Plan


